1949

## Maude Baker v. L. Jansen, dba Utah House Cleaning Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff brought this action against the defendants Stanley D. Decker and L. Jansen, doing business as Utah House Cleaning Company, for damages alleged to have resulted to her on the morning of January 29, 1946, from a fall while she was walking along the second story hallway of the Roosevelt Apartments in Salt Lake City, Utah. The case was tried before a jury and at the close of plaintiff's case a motion for nonsuit was granted in favor of the defendant, Stanley

D. Decker. (R. 106) After the parties had introduced their evidence and rested, the trial court denied the motion of the defendant, L. Jansen, for a directed verdict, and the case was submitted to the jury. The jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff and against the defendant, L. Jansen, and it is from this verdict and the judgment which was entered that defendant appeals.

The Roosevelt Apartment House is a three-story building facing north on Third South Street in Salt Lake City. There is a driveway on the east side of the building which leads from the street to garages at the rear of the building. Each of the three floors has a hallway running north and south the full length of the building. There are three stairways in the building, one in front, one in back and one on the east side. These stairways connect the three floors each with the other, thereby allowing traverse of the floor above or below from any stairway. After descending to the main floor level, the front or north stairway continues to the front entrance, the east stairway continues to an alleyway entrance, and the back or south stairway continues to the back entrance. Mrs. Baker lived in Apartment 212, which is the second apartment from the south end of the building on the east side of the second floor. (R. 90-93, Exhibit 5)

The defendant L. Jansen, doing business as Utah House Cleaning Company, was engaged in the business of painting, papering and housecleaning. He had en-

tered into a contract with the defendant, Stanley D. Decker, the owner of the Roosevelt Apartments, to paint the woodwork, paper the ceilings and walls of the halls and stairways and wash the wainscoting on the lower walls of said apartment house. He began work four or five days prior to the 29th of January and had completed the top floor and all of the second floor except the north part of the hallway and front stairway. (R. 111-112) At 8:00 o'clock on the morning of the 29th, he and his helper, Leonard Vermaas, set up their equipment in the north part of the second floor hallway. This equipment consisted of a canvas drop cloth, a papering table, a tool box and a paste bucket. (R. 112-113) The canvas was twelve feet long, folded to make a three-foot width and placed under the table to receive the strips of paper after the paper had been trimmed. (R. 113, 131) The table was seven feet long, three feet wide and three feet high (R. 130) and placed on top of the canvas and flush against the east wall of the hallway (R. 114) north of the east stairway. The tool box was eighteen inches wide by eighteen inches high (R. 129) and placed opposite the south end of the table from two to six inches east of the west wall. The paste bucket was ten inches high and placed on top of the tool box with a six inch brush in a holder in the bucket. (R. 115, 129, 146, 160) A 100-watt electric light was hanging directly over the papering table about one foot down from the ceiling, secured by means of an extension cord wrapped around the ceiling light fixture and plugged into an outlet on the east wall under the table.

(R. 151, 152) Another 100-watt light in a floor lamp without a shade was located at the north stairway on the second floor where Mr. Jansen and his helper, Mr. Vermaas, were working. There were three stationary lights in the hall and one over each stairway. The hallway of the second floor was 5 feet 2 inches in width. It was 28 feet 6 inches from Mrs. Baker's apartment south to the back stairway (R. 127), 56 feet from her apartment north to the east stairway (R. 128), 22 feet north from the east stairway to the table (R. 127, Exhibit 5) and about 180 feet long from the south stairway to the north stairway. (R. 186). The front stairway on the morning of the accident was blocked by a plank between two ladders. (R. 115, 143, 155)

On the morning in question the plaintiff left her apartment at about ten minutes to nine o'clock to go to her place of employment at the Community Chest office. As she came into the hall she noticed the paper hanger's table along the east wall, the canvas underneath the table and the container or bucket to the west of the table near the west wall and opposite the south end of the table. (R. 84, 93-97, 190-192) The two 100-watt lights, the stairway light and the center light in the hall were burning. She did not recall seeing the tool chest nor did she remember seeing the men, but she either observed them or heard their voices for she knew they were there. She noticed that the canvas was spread out covering the carpet, (R. 95) uneven, crumpled and bunched at the end of the table. (R. 191) She observed this condition of the canvas and the location of

the bucket and table before she attempted to walk through the space between the bucket and the table and to step over the canvas. (R. 192) She stepped over the canvas with her left foot, caught her right heel in it and fell. She fell between the table and the west wall with her head to the north. (R. 98) The defendant Mr. Jansen and Mr. Vermaas ran to her immediately, and after a few minutes carried her to her apartment.

### STATEMENT OF ERRORS

1. The trial court erred in overruling the general demurrer of the defendant, L. Jansen, to the plaintiff's amended complaint. (R. 15)

2. The trial court erred in failing to grant the motion of the defendant, L. Jansen, for a nonsuit. (R. 24 and 106-7)

3. The trial court erred in failing to direct the jury to return a verdict for the defendant, L. Jansen. (R. 25, 39, 194-5 and 197)

4. The trial court erred in giving Instruction No. 5 as follows:

“You are instructed that if the defendant, L. Jansen, and his employees, while performing their work in the hallway on the second floor of the Roosevelt Apartments, knew or should have known that it would not be reasonably safe for persons using said hallway to cross over the canvas or pass their equipment, then it was the duty of said defendant or his em-

ployees either to block off said hallway where they were working or to instruct and advise persons using the same to use the other stairway; and if you find from the evidence that they failed in this duty and that by reason thereof plaintiff, while using ordinary care for her own safety, was injured, then your verdict shall be in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant.” (R. 32 and 199-200)

5. The trial court erred in giving written Instruction No. 4 as follows:

“You are instructed that it was the duty of the defendant, L. Jansen, and his employees to keep the floor of the hallway on the second floor of the apartment building reasonably safe for plaintiff in her use of the hallway, and that if the said defendant in spreading canvas on the floor or in permitting tools and equipment to be left and strewn about the hallway in such a manner as to make the hallway dangerous, or not reasonably safe for the plaintiff in her use thereof, then the said defendant was negligent.” (R. 31-2 and 198-9)

and in giving orally as part of Instruction No. 4, then striking the same from the written instruction, the following:

“And if you find that in exercising ordinary care for her own safety, plaintiff was injured by the negligence of the defendant, if you find that the defendant was negligent, then your verdict should be for the plaintiff and against the defendant Jansen.” (R. 32 and 198-9)

6. The trial court erred in giving that part of Instruction No. 8 defining "negligence." (R. 33-4 and 200)

7. The trial court erred in giving Instruction No. 10 on the measure of damages. (R. 34-5 and 200)

8. The trial court erred in refusing to give the defendant, L. Jansen's requested instruction No. 6 as follows:

"You are instructed that Mrs. Baker in traversing the hallway of the apartment was not relieved of the necessity of exercising ordinary care for her own safety. If you find that the defendant's equipment was placed in the hallway in such a manner that it constituted a hazard which plaintiff under the circumstances should have observed and that plaintiff, notwithstanding the fact that other exits were available to her, proceeded to take the hazardous course, then you must find that she assumed the risk of any injury which she sustained and your verdict shall be in favor of the defendant Jansen, no cause of action." (R. 45 and 197-8)

9. The trial court erred in refusing to give the defendant L. Jansen's requested instruction No. 8, as follows:

"If you find that the defendant's equipment was placed in the hallway in such a manner that it constituted a hazard and that plain-

tiff observed, or in the exercise of ordinary care should have observed such hazard, then you are instructed that plaintiff was negligent in not taking either the east or south stairways which were available to her and your verdict shall be against the plaintiff and in favor of the defendant Jansen, no cause of action.” (R. 47 and 198)

10. The trial court erred in refusing to give the defendant L. Jansen’s requested instruction No. 9, as follows:

“You are instructed that Mrs. Baker in traversing the hallway of the apartment is not relieved of the necessity of exercising ordinary care for her own safety regardless of whether the equipment of the defendant was so placed in the hallway that it did or did not constitute a hazard. Therefore, if you believe from all of the evidence that plaintiff acted in a careless or negligent manner in passing by or over the equipment and that such carelessness or negligence resulted in the injury complained of, your verdict shall be in favor of the defendant L. Jansen, no cause of action.” (R. 48 and 198)

11. The trial court erred in overruling the motion of defendant, L. Jansen, for judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the jury. (R. 26, 63 and 204)

12. The trial court erred in overruling defendant, L. Jansen’s motion for new trial. (R. 56-7, 63, 66-8 and 203-6)

POINT I. THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING  
DEFENDANT, L. JANSEN'S GENERAL  
DEMURRER TO PLAINTIFF'S  
AMENDED COMPLAINT.

Plaintiff pleads facts in her complaint apparently known to her and observed by her. The part of her complaint alleging the condition of the hallway and charging the defendants with negligence reads as follows:

"4. That on the second floor there is a hallway extending from the front to the rear of said floor with a stairway leading to the first floor at each end of said hallway.

"5. That on the 29th day of January, 1946, while said defendants were papering or cleaning the hallway on the second floor of said apartment building, said defendants were negligent and careless in the following particulars, to-wit:

"(a) That the cloth and covering put up on [sic] the floor to protect the same was laid or permitted to become ruffled and uneven, so that people traversing said hallway across and over said covering might catch their feet in the same and fall.

"(b) That said defendants negligently and carelessly permitted their tools and equipment to become strewn in said hallway so that they would be a hazard to people walking down said hallway.

"(c) That the defendants failed and neglected to advise and warn individuals using said

hallway, and particularly their tenants and said plaintiff, that they should not walk along said passage.

“(d) That the defendants failed and neglected to place barricade or signs across said hallway so that tenants and other people would be warned not to use said hallway and permitted people to traverse back and forth along said hallway.

“6. That by reason of the careless and negligent acts aforesaid and as the sole and proximate cause thereof, plaintiff, while proceeding along said hallway and *unaware* of the fact that same was not open to use, caught her foot in said cloth or stumbled over the equipment of the defendants, which caused her to fall. \* \* \*

” (Italics ours).

No claim is made that the hallway was not sufficiently lighted nor that plaintiff was in any manner unable to see the ruffled and uneven canvas and the tools and equipment. Although the canvas, tools and equipment in the hall by any reading of the complaint in fact constituted a barricade and a warning, plaintiff, because she was “unaware” of the fact that the same was not open to use, “caught her foot in said cloth or stumbled over the equipment.” It is doubtful that the complaint states facts sufficient to show culpable negligence against the defendant, Jansen, as the condition of the hallway as alleged does not show that a hazard existed. If the complaint could be construed to allege a hazardous condition, plaintiff cannot be heard to say that she was unaware of such condition when it was

open and obvious, and she does not allege facts showing a reason for her inability to observe it. It is further apparent that plaintiff did not have to subject herself to the alleged hazard, for, as she states, there was a stairway leading to the first floor at each end of the hallway and plaintiff does not allege that the hallway was hazardous in all of the directions available to her.

POINT II. THE DEFENDANT L. JANSEN OR HIS  
EMPLOYEES WERE NOT GUILTY OF  
NEGLIGENCE.

The defendant, L. Jansen, was charged with putting the canvas on the floor of the hallway and permitting it to become ruffled and uneven, with permitting tools and equipment to become strewn in the hallway, and with failing to place a barricade or signs or to otherwise warn against the use of the hallway. At the close of plaintiff's case the plaintiff herself had testified as to the location and condition of the equipment as follows:

“Q. Now, will you describe just what happened as you left your apartment?

A. As I came out in the hall, I noticed the cleaning there and started out the usual way, but I did notice that the canvas was rumped at that end. I stepped over, but the right foot caught either in the hole or bunched canvas, and the table was holding it so that it didn't give, and I fell.

Q. Now, was there any equipment or anything in the hallway, or did you notice?

A. The table, the paper hanger's table alone and the canvas, and I don't recall anything else that was there.

Q. Do you remember what side of the hall that was located on?

A. On the east. The table was along the east wall." \* \* \* (R. 84)

"Q. Now, I believe you stated that as you came out of your apartment you observed the paper hangers in the hallway. Is that correct?

A. I did.

\* \* \*

Q. Could you state how far that table extended out from the east wall, approximately?

A. Well, as I remember, it was against the east wall.

Q. It was right against the east wall?

A. Yes.

Q. And then about how far out into the hallway would it extend?

A. Oh, the average width of a paper hanger's table. I don't know what that would be. I don't know whether it would be three feet or a little less, probably.

Q. About three feet would you say?

A. I should say about that, or less, if anything. I wouldn't be sure.

\* \* \*

Q. Then did you observe that canvas that you have mentioned; as you approached the table, *did you observe the canvas?*

A. *Yes, I did.*

Q. *You observed the canvas?*

A. *Yes.*

Q. *And where was that located?*

A. *It was spread over the hallway as far as the end of the table, first end.*

Q. *That would be the south end of the table?*

A. *Yes.*

Q. *The table was running north and south, was it not?*

A. *Yes.*

Q. *And the canvas came out to the south end of the table. Is that correct?*

A. *That's where I caught my foot, and that was the end of the canvas.*

\* \* \*

Q. *Now, you say you observed some other equipment there. Did you observe any other equipment besides the canvas?*

A. *It seems to me there was a container against the other wall up that way. They were getting ready then, of course, that early in the morning and just putting the things up there.*

Q. *There was a container against the other wall. That would be the west wall of the hallway?*

A. *It seems to me there was something standing along, somewhere along.*

Q. *Was that a bucket?*

A. *It would be, I think, a bucket.*

Q. *You think that was a bucket?*

A. *Probably a bucket.*

Q. *A paste bucket?*

A. Yes.

\* \* \*

Q. But it was west of the table so it left a very narrow passageway for you to get between the bucket and the table. Is that correct?

A. Well, it didn't obstruct the passageway. There was plenty of room. I had no thought of not being able to get through. The walk was wide enough to go through.

Q. You thought it was wide enough to get through?

A. Oh, there wasn't anything to make me feel that there was no room to get by because there was room to get by.

Q. Was the bucket west of the table, west of the south end of the table?

A. Yes, because I wouldn't have noticed it—it was, because I didn't get any farther than there, so I wouldn't have seen it. It was near the other wall or by the other wall.

Q. That would be the west wall?

A. Uh huh." \* \* \* (R. 93-97)

Regarding the location of the east stairway and the south stairway, which were available for plaintiff's use, Mrs. Baker testified as follows:

“Q. Now, as you came out of your apartment, I understand there was a stairway at the south end of the hall. Is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you stated that that stairway led out to the back yard of the apartment?

A. That's right.

\* \* \*

Q. Now, that stairway also led down to the hallway of the main floor, the first floor, did it not?

A. Yes.

Q. And that stairway connected the first and second floor in addition to making a connection with the rear door of the apartment?

A. Yes.

Q. And there was just one apartment between your apartment and that back stairway. Is that correct?

A. Yes.

\* \* \*

Q. Now, the stairway on the east side, I believe you stated that went from the second floor down to the east alley, to an alleyway—

A. Yes.

Q. —that was east of the apartment?

A. Yes.

Q. And that stairway also connected the hallway of the second floor with the hallway of the first floor. Is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And then at the front, the front stairway, the stairway which you testified you were going toward, that stairway went from the second floor down, from the hallway in the second floor down to the hallway of the first floor. Is that correct?

\* \* \*

A. Yes.

Q. And where that stairway met the hallway of the first floor, is that where the front entrance to the building was?

A. On the first floor, yes.

Q. Now, the hallway of the first floor ran the complete, the full length of the apartment building, did it not?

A. Yes.

Q. Just the same as the hallway of the second floor?

A. Yes.” \* \* \* (R. 91-93)

Under the allegations of the complaint, plaintiff was required to show that a hazardous condition existed and that defendant failed to barricade the hallway or otherwise warn plaintiff of its condition. There was no evidence that defendant's tools and equipment were strewn in the hallway. The only evidence adduced by plaintiff on this point was that the table, the canvas and the bucket had been placed in the hallway. The equipment described by her was simple and commonplace. The evidence did not show that it had been negligently placed in the hallway or that it constituted a hazard. Plaintiff, in fact, saw every piece of equipment of which she complains, and observed particularly the canvas before she stepped over it, and yet she testified: “there wasn't anything to make me feel that there was no room to get by, because there was room to get by.”

There was no allegation of improper lighting or of any other condition which would restrict plaintiff's

ability to see the equipment. As plaintiff saw the very condition complained of and observed the condition of the canvas before her fall, a barricade or other warning would have given her no more notice of the condition than she already had. The testimony, however, shows that the equipment was set up in such a manner that it constituted a barricade. All of the evidence shows that Mr. Jansen and his helper, Mr. Vermaas, placed a table 3 feet wide along the east side of the hall and that a bucket was placed on top of a tool box which was near the west wall of the hallway and west of the south end of the table. While Mrs. Baker testified that she did not remember seeing the tool box, she could not say that it was not there, and she did remember seeing the bucket. The tool box was 18 inches wide and the over-all height of the bucket and tool box was 2 feet 4 inches. The hallway was 5 feet 2 inches wide, and simple arithmetic applied to these facts shows a space between the tool box and table to be so narrow that the equipment itself constituted the barricade which it was intended to be. Mr. Jansen testified in this regard as follows:

“Q. Did you leave a space there then to go between?

A. No. It was where we always put it, and we put that box there as a definite blockade so nobody will go through.

Q. In other words, you wanted to block off the place?

A. We wanted to block off the whole width of the hall, yes.

Q. The whole end of the hall?

A. Yes, sir.''' \* \* \* (R. 132-3)

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