1949

Maude Baker v. L. Jansen, dba Utah House Cleaning Company : ABrief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Plaintiff's argument will be divided under the following headings:

1. The court was correct in overruling defendant L. Jansen's general demurrer to plaintiff's amended complaint.
2. The defendant L. Jansen, or his employees, were guilty of negligence.
3. The doctrine of assumption of risk is not applicable in this case.

4. The plaintiff was not guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law.

5. The trial court correctly instructed the jury as to the theory and law of the case.

6. The trial court did not err in giving instruction Number 4, nor did the court err in instructing the jury orally and then striking a part thereof from said written instruction.

1. THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN OVERRULING DEFENDANT L. JANSEN'S GENERAL DEMURRER TO PLAINTIFF'S AMENDED COMPLAINT.

Plaintiff alleged in her amended complaint that she was a tenant in the apartment house where Jansen was performing certain work and services; that the defendant in performing such services negligently laid or permitted the cloth and covering on the floor to become ruffled and uneven so that people traversing said hallway might catch their feet in the same and fall; that he permitted his tools to be strewn in the hallway so that it would be a hazard to the people walking down said hallway; that he failed to notify individuals using the hall that they should not walk along said passageway, and that he failed to place any barricade to warn people not to walk along said passageway. From these facts it is clear that plaintiff was entitled to use said hallway, and that the defendant owed a duty to her and the other tenants of the apartment house to keep the hallway in

such a condition that it could be traversed in safety or to have blocked the same off so that it could not be used.

Plaintiff further alleges in her amended complaint, that by reason of the negligent acts of defendant, and she being unaware that the hallway should not be used, she proceeded along the same, caught her foot in the cloth, stumbled and was injured. As the court has stated in the case of *Soule v. Weatherby, et al.*, 39 Utah 580, 118 Pac. 833:

“* * * * It is fundamental that, in order to state a good cause of action in any kind of a case, it must be made to appear from the face of the complaint, either by direct allegation or by necessary or unavoidable inference from the facts stated, that there is a primary legal right in the plaintiff, a primary legal duty connected with such right resting on the defendant, and a breach of such duty. When these allegations are supplemented by a statement of the amount claimed and a prayer for judgment, which are formal matters merely, a complete cause as well as right of action is stated upon which the plaintiff is entitled to relief in accordance with the rules of practice and the substantive law relating to the subject-matter.”

The plaintiff in this case has clearly come within these rules.

Defendant states in his brief at page 10 thereof:

“If the complaint could be construed to allege a hazardous condition, plaintiff cannot be heard to say that she was unaware of such con-

dition when it was open and obvious, and she does not allege facts showing a reason for her inability to observe it. It is further apparent that plaintiff did not have to subject herself to the alleged hazard, for, as she states, there was a stairway leading to the first floor at each end of the hallway and plaintiff does not allege that the hallway was hazardous in all of the directions available to her.”

By the above statement defendant has tried to place a strained interpretation upon plaintiff’s amended complaint, but even under defendant’s construction the complaint states a cause of action and does not show contributory negligence as a matter of law. In the case of *Moore v. Miles*, 108 Utah 167, 158 Pac. (2d) 676, this Court held that the question of contributory negligence was properly submitted to the jury. In the *Miles* case plaintiff testified that the west end of the hall was so dark that she could not see the stairs and that as she was walking slowly and feeling ahead with her feet she lost her balance at the first step and fell down the short flight of steps to the doorway. In the *Miles* case there was also another stairway which could have been used. The Court in this regard stated:

“But defendant argues that since plaintiff had a choice of going down the stairway into the lobby, which admittedly was well lighted, or down the west stairway, to the parking lot which plaintiff testified was dark, she was negligent as a matter of law because she chose the unsafe route.”

“A similar situation was presented to the court in *Williams v. City of New York*, 214 N. Y. 259, 108 N.E. 448, 449, and it was there said:

‘Another point urged against the plaintiff grows out of his conduct on the occasion of the accident. He had slipped down on the sidewalk just before he fell the second time and broke his leg. He pursued his way along the icy sidewalk instead of crossing the street to a sidewalk which was entirely clear. This, it is said, was contributory negligence, not merely justifying, but requiring, the nonsuit. It may have been contributory negligence, as a matter of fact, but we think it was a question for the jury. In *Twogood v. Mayor etc.*, of New York, 102 N. Y. 216, 6 N. E. 275, it was held to be a question for the jury whether a plaintiff was chargeable with contributory negligence in venturing upon a walk in an icy condition when she might have avoided all danger by going upon the walk on the other side of the street which was clear and safe.’

In the face of such facts, the court still held in the *Williams* case that the question of contributory negligence was for the jury. A similar case is *Tillotson v. City of Davenport*, 232 Iowa 44, 4 N.W. 2d 365, 366, where the court likewise held that the question of contributory negligence was for the jury. The court said:

‘It is well settled that mere knowledge that a walk is dangerous, unsafe for travel, is not sufficient to establish contributory negligence though there is another way that is safe and convenient, and to defeat recovery it must appear that the traveler knew or as an ordinarily cautious person should have known that it was imprudent to use the walk. *Templin v. City of*

Boone, 127 Iowa 91, 102 N.W. 789; Reynolds v. City of Centerville, 151 Iowa 19, 129 N.W. 949; Gibson v. City of Denison, 153 Iowa 320, 133 N.W. 712, 38 L.R.A., N.S., 644; Travers v. City of Emmetsburg, 190 Iowa 717, 180 N.W. 753; Lundy v. City of Ames, 202 Iowa 100, 209 N.W. 427; Franks v. Sioux City, 229 Iowa 1097, 296 N.W. 224.'

In view of the foregoing authorities, and the long established rule in this jurisdiction, that contributory negligence is a question for a jury, we hold that the issue of contributory negligence was properly submitted to the jury by the trial court."

The condition of the hallway, to the plaintiff in the case at bar, was not more apparent than the darkness of the hall in the Miles case, or the ice on the sidewalk in the Williams case, nor is it the duty of plaintiff to negative contributory negligence in her pleading.

2. THE DEFENDANT L. JANSEN, OR HIS EMPLOYEES, WERE GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE.

The defendant was bound to use ordinary care in conducting his work to prevent injury from occurring to the plaintiff. Plaintiff as a tenant had a right to the access of this hallway and it was the defendant's duty to either close off the area in which he was working or to keep the passage reasonably safe for the plaintiff while she was using the hall.

The test of the defendant's liability for such negligence is set out in *Furkovich v. Bingham Coal & Lumber Co.*, 45 Utah 89, 143 Pac. 121:

“ ‘But the test of liability is not whether, by the exercise of ordinary prudence, the defendant could or could not have foreseen the precise form in which the injury actually resulted, but he must be held for anything which, after the injury is complete, appears to have been a natural and probable consequence of his act. If the act is one which the party, in the exercise of ordinary care, could have anticipated as likely to result in injury, then he is liable for any injury actually resulting from it, although he could not have anticipated the particular injury which did occur.’ ”

The court further states:

“Where a dangerous condition is easily obviated or rendered harmless, a failure to do one or the other may be considered in determining the question of negligence.”

In this case defendant Jansen could have seen that the drop cloth was smoothly laid so that people traversing the hall would not catch their heels, or that his equipment was properly out of the way, or he could have completely blocked off the hall so that the same could not have been used by the tenants. The defendant is answerable for any foreseeable injury that might occur to tenants using the hallway as a result of the placing of equipment, in failing to keep the drop cloth properly

laid so that it would not become ruffled and uneven, or in failing to take ordinary precautions to keep the tenants from using the particular area. The trial court clearly instructed the jury upon this point in its instruction Number 5 (Tr. p. 32).

The conflict of evidence as to whether or not the defendant did in fact barricade the hallway and place his equipment as he claims, or whether the passageway was left open and the drop cloth or canvas was permitted to extend into the hall in an improper and dangerous condition was properly submitted to the jury and they, as the triers of the fact, believed the plaintiff, and this finding becomes the ultimate fact in this case.

3. THE DOCTRINE OF ASSUMPTION OF RISK IS NOT APPLICABLE IN THIS CASE.

As a general rule the doctrine of assumption of risk is not applicable in a case arising from a tort, but is applied in cases of contract and, particularly, under the Workmens' Compensation Act. This doctrine is well stated in the case of *Horne v. Neill*, 70 Georgia Appeals, 602, 29 S.E. 2d 275, wherein the court states as follows:

“This court held in *Brown v. Rome Machine & Foundry Co.*, 5 Ga. App. 142, 152, 62 S.E. 720, 725: ‘We hope that we have made it clear that assumption of risk is a defense which arises only from the contract that creates the relationship essential to the duty upon the breach of which the plaintiff’s cause of action rests. Theoretically speaking, contributory negligence has no different meaning in actions by the servant

against the master from that which it universally has in suits based on torts. These foundations of liability and of defense, when reduced to final analysis, are but phases of well-recognized common-law principles. If we bear in mind that assumption of risk finds its origin in the law of contract and is governed by the usual canons of construction applicable in the field of contract law, and that contributory negligence finds its origin in the law of torts and is governed by its cardinal canons, and that both defenses may arise from the same set of circumstances, though they do not necessarily do so, we ought to be able to deal with them without confusion.' 'Therefore we are confirmed in our opinion that under the facts of this case the court committed no error in failing to give in charge to the jury the law of assumption of risk as the defendant contends.'"

The defendant did not plead the defense of assumption of risk. Defendant contends that it was not necessary to plead assumption of risk because the elements thereof were proven by plaintiff in her own case. In this connection defendant has quoted from the evidence at great length, both under Point II and Point III in his brief. The plaintiff testified:

- "Q. But it was west of the table so it left a very narrow passageway for you to get between the bucket and the table. Is that correct?
- A. Well, it didn't obstruct the passageway. There was plenty of room. I had no thought of not being able to get through. The walk was wide enough to go through.
- Q. You thought it was wide enough to get through?

A. Oh, there wasn't anything to make me feel that there was no room to get by because there was room to get by (Tr. pp. 96, 97).

* * * *

Q. Mrs. Baker, you said the canvas wasn't folded like it is shown in the Exhibit 1 which Mr. Richards showed you. Is that correct?

A. That's right, it wasn't folded like that.

Q. Did you observe whether it was folded at all?

A. Well, I couldn't say as to that. I know it wasn't smooth, and I had to step over it. It was uneven, and I felt that it was bunched at the end of the table, though, just crumpled up and bunched there, and I did step over with my left foot and caught my right heel in it, and it was held down by the table and didn't give, and it threw me down.

Q. And you observed that condition before you stepped over—

A. I did.

Q. —with your left foot?

A. *Well, I was walking right along the hallway on my way out to go to work as I always do, and I had no hesitancy about it because it seemed perfectly all right, I could step over that.* (Tr. pp. 190, 191).'' (Italics ours)

From the testimony it is apparent that plaintiff did not appreciate any danger or extraordinary hazard in traversing the hallway. For the doctrine of assumption of risk to be applicable, one must have knowledge and appreciation of the danger.

It is stated in 38 *Am. Jur.* p. 847, Sec. 173, "Knowledge and appreciation of the danger is an essential of the defense of assumption of risk." Likewise, in the case of *Kuchenmeister v. Los Angeles & S. L. R. Co.*, 52 Utah 116, 172 P. 725, at page 729, the court states:

"The distinction is also very intelligently discussed and clearly stated by the author in 3 *Labatt Mast. & Serv. Sec.* 1219 et seq. The fundamental element in assumption of risk, where it is not assumed as a matter of contract, as stated in the foregoing quotation, is 'intelligent choice'; that is, the employe, before he may be charged with having assumed the risk, must not only have fully understood and appreciated the danger, but he, in the very face of the danger, must, voluntarily, have assumed the risk of injury. Nothing short of that constitutes intelligent choice."

Neither under the pleadings nor the evidence was defendant entitled to an instruction involving the question of assumption of risk. The defendant also failed to submit to the court a proper request for this defense even if it was proper under the pleadings and the facts of the case. This question we will discuss under our heading number 5.

4. THE PLAINTIFF WAS NOT GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Defendant contends that if he was negligent and the passageway was hazardous, the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence in failing to have observed the

condition. Plaintiff did testify that she noticed that the cleaning had been started in the hall and that the canvas was rumpled at the end (Tr. p. 93). There is no evidence that after observing these facts she carelessly hurried down the hall or failed to proceed with caution (Tr. p. 190). The only other claim is that there was another exit available, which plaintiff failed to take. This court in the case of *Moore v. Miles*, supra, held that such facts do not constitute contributory negligence as a matter of law, and the question of contributory negligence should be submitted to the jury.

“The next question for consideration is whether plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law in proceeding down the darkened hallway knowing that the stairway was at the end thereof. In this jurisdiction we are committed to the doctrine that the question of contributory negligence is one for the jury, where as said in *Carpenter v. Syrett*, 99 Utah 208, 104 P. 2d 617, 619, ‘different conclusions may be reasonably drawn by different minds from the same evidence * * *.’ See also, *Olsen v. Hayden Holding Co.*, supra; *Jensen v. Logan City*, 89 Utah 347, 57 P. 2d 708; *Shortino v. Salt Lake & Utah R. R. Co.*, 52 Utah 476, 174 P. 860; *Larkin v. Saltair Beach Co.*, 30 Utah 86, 83 P. 686, 3 L.R.A., N.S., 983, 116 Am. St. Rep. 818; *Hone v. Mammoth Min. Co.*, 27 Utah 168, 75 P. 381; *Smith v. Rio Grande Western Ry. Co.*, 9 Utah 141, 33 P. 626. And from other jurisdictions *L’Heureux v. Hurley*, 117 Conn. 347, 168 A. 8; *Sodekson v. Lynch*, 314 Mass. 161, 49 N.E. 2d 901; *Armstrong v. Yakima Hotel Co.*, 75 Wash. 477, 135 P. 233.”

5. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY AS TO THE THEORY AND LAW OF THE CASE.

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